**RECEIVED**

**Oct 28 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Anderson County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAVAYEA ANTWAN GLENN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000289

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress all evidence seized from Appellant's person and the subsequent search of his vehicle when law enforcement's act of lifting Appellant's shirt to look into his waistband violated the scope of a permissible Terry frisk in violation of Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and where law enforcement did not have probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct and thus conduct a search incident to arrest?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Anderson County grand jury indicted Appellant on October 27, 2020, for trafficking in crack cocaine, twenty-eight grams or more, but less than one hundred grams. R. \* (Indictment). His case was called to trial on February 5, 2024, before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. Tr. 1. Assistant Solicitors Danny Fulmer and Alexandra Navarre represented the state. Hadden Lucas and Elizabeth Chambers represented Appellant. Tr. 1.

On February 7, 2024, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. Tr. 257, l. 20 – 258, l. 5. He was sentenced to twenty-five years imprisonment and a fifty thousand dollar fine. Tr. 266, ll. 17-18.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress the crack cocaine found on his person. Appellant filed a written motion to suppress and a memorandum in support. R. \* (Motion). A hearing was held on Appellant's motion after jury selection. Defense counsel conceded before the *in camera* testimony that law enforcement had reasonable suspicion to briefly detain Appellant and to perform a brief pat down search for weapons pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). However, he argued law enforcement exceeded the scope of a permissible Terry frisk in violation of the Fourth Amendment when an officer lifted Appellant's shirt without any exceptional circumstances that would permit the officer to bypass a pat down of Appellant's outer clothing. Tr. 52, l. 4 – 53, l. 7.

On May 24, 2020, dispatch received a call from an unknown individual at Eddie's Minute Mart, a convenience store in Anderson County. It is unclear from the record whether the caller was a customer of the store or an employee. The caller reported that a Black male wearing a dark blue shirt and red shoes was "intoxicated and causing a disturbance in the store, getting in a customer's personal space." The unknown caller further claimed the Black male "showed the clerk a firearm" in a "non-threatening manner" and was "making sexual comments to the clerk." Tr. 56, l. 1-21; Tr. 77, ll. 11-15.

Deputy Joshua Nesbitt with the Anderson County Sheriff's Office was the first officer to arrive on scene. When Nesbitt approached, Appellant was in the doorway of the store. Nesbitt began to question Appellant in an effort to determine if Appellant was the "subject" of the call. While talking to Appellant, Nesbitt smelled "the odor of alcohol." He claimed Appellant was being "loud and boisterous," which was "not in line with his normal nature." Nesbitt had previously been Appellant's probation officer and said Appellant was usually "quiet and

reserved.” Nesbitt admitted Appellant was cooperative. Appellant did not try to walk away from Nesbitt, nor did he disobey any commands. Tr. 82, ll. 19-24.

About forty-five seconds after Nesbitt began questioning Appellant, Deputy Janessa Smith and a third officer arrived on scene. Deputy Smith listened to Nesbitt questioning Appellant. Nesbitt asked Appellant if he had been drinking. Appellant denied he had been drinking. Tr. 83, ll. 10-20. Nesbitt then asked Appellant for his identification. Appellant told Nesbitt his name and date of birth but did not produce an identification. State’s Exhibit No. 5 (Body Camera Footage).

Deputy Smith testified that she also smelled a “strong odor” of alcohol on Appellant’s breath and body and maintained Appellant’s “speech was slurred and his eyes were glassy.” Smith asserted that she “immediately” noticed a bulge in Appellant’s “front right waistband area.” She could see an “orange object . . . sticking out” of the waistband of Appellant’s pants. Tr. 57, ll. 12-18. Smith claimed that when she saw the orange bag or fabric, she believed it was concealing a firearm based on the “surrounding circumstances” and the information provided by the unknown caller to dispatch (that the Black male showed the clerk a firearm in a nonthreatening manner). Tr. 58, ll. 18-25.

Smith stated during her *in camera* testimony that Appellant “was asked if he had a firearm” and denied he did. Tr. 57, ll. 19-21. However, a review of the body camera footage disproves Smith’s testimony. Appellant was never asked if he had a gun. State’s Exhibit No. 5 (Body Camera Footage).

Roughly thirty seconds after approaching Appellant, Deputy Smith asked Appellant, “What’s this right here?” and simultaneously lifted Appellant’s shirt. Appellant quickly pulled his shirt down. Smith then lifted Appellant’s shirt a second time and asked, “Why you have that

right there?” State’s Exhibit No. 5 (Body Camera Footage). Smith testified that when she lifted Appellant’s shirt, she observed a clear plastic bag that contained a green leafy substance consistent with marijuana. Tr. 57, l. 19 – 58, l. 7. After observing the marijuana, Smith immediately placed Appellant under arrest and handcuffed him. State’s Exhibit No. 5 (Body Camera Footage). Smith claimed during her *in camera* testimony that she arrested Appellant for public disorderly conduct because of his “gross intoxication.” Tr. 59, ll. 1-7. However, the timing of Appellant’s arrest strongly suggests he was arrested for possession of marijuana.

During his interaction with Smith and Nesbitt, Appellant was holding a green bag in his right hand and a pack of cigarettes in his left hand. Deputy Smith seized the green bag Appellant was holding, the orange bag tucked into his waistband, and the clear plastic bag containing the suspected marijuana. Smith searched the green bag and found an “unknown amount” of cash. In the orange bag, Smith found a “white, rocklike substance,” that field tested positive for crack cocaine with a preliminary weight of 77.3 grams. Also in the orange bag, Smith found seven white tablets that she identified through “Pill Identifier” as hydrocodone, a schedule II controlled substance. Tr. 59, ll. 7-19.

When prompted by the assistant solicitor with a leading question, Deputy Smith maintained that she had decided upon approaching Appellant and determining him to be intoxicated to arrest him for public disorderly conduct. More specifically, she testified that she decided to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct because she smelled a strong odor of alcoholic beverages, he allegedly had “glassy eyes,” and “his speech was slurred.” When further prompted by the solicitor, Smith added that her decision to arrest Appellant for disorderly conduct was also based on the information dispatch received from the unknown caller stating

that Appellant was intoxicated, showed a firearm to the clerk, and was “getting in a customer’s personal space.” Tr. 59, l. 22 – 60, l. 13.

Deputy Smith conceded that she did nothing to corroborate the information relayed to her by dispatch from the unknown caller concerning Appellant’s alleged behavior in the store. She also made no attempt to identify or speak to the caller. Tr. 64, l. 19 – 66, l. 5. She also admitted that both of Appellant’s hands were visible throughout their brief encounter and that Appellant never threatened the officers nor disobeyed any orders. Tr. 68, l. 20 – 69, l. 20.

None of the officers asked Appellant if he had any weapons nor did they conduct a standard pat down search for weapons pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), before Smith lifted Appellant’s shirt (which constituted a search). Tr. 84, ll. 10-18; Tr. 86, ll. 17-21.

Appellant testified *in camera* that he went to Eddie’s Minute Mart to buy cigarettes and a cup of coffee. While he was paying, he dropped the cup of coffee near the counter, and it spilled. Appellant cleaned up the spilled coffee. While doing so, he blocked “the way” of other customers. In an effort to compensate the customers for blocking the way, Appellant offered to pay for their gas. Appellant denied that he was drunk. However, he admitted that he had been drinking hours earlier. Appellant also denied showing the clerk a gun or bothering other customers. Tr. 87, l. 15 – 90, l. 22.

Appellant explained that while speaking with the officers, his hands were full. He had a Crown Royal bag in one hand and a pack of cigarettes in the other hand. He stated that he never reached into his waistband, never threatened the officers, and never attempted to walk away or flee. He was cooperative. Appellant asserted that none of the officers frisked him for weapons. Instead, when Deputy Smith arrived on scene, she lifted Appellant’s shirt, and after Appellant pulled his shirt back down, Smith lifted it a second time. Tr. 88, l. 15 – 89, l. 6.

At the conclusion of the *in camera* testimony, the assistant solicitor argued law enforcement had “two substantial legal reasons to search” Appellant. First, the solicitor argued Deputy Smith had probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct and thus was entitled to search Appellant incident to arrest. Second, the solicitor argued Smith had reasonable suspicion that Appellant may be armed based on the information she received from dispatch and the “bulge . . . she saw on his waistband” and thus, she was permitted to conduct “a Terry stop.” The solicitor admitted there was no case law in South Carolina regarding whether a frisk for weapons pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), allows “a pull up of a shirt” or only permits a “pat down” of the outer clothing. Tr. 91, l. 1 – 93, l. 7.

Defense counsel argued the Terry frisk conducted by Deputy Smith was “unreasonable in scope” given that the officer lifted Appellant’s shirt. He conceded that law enforcement was legally permitted to conduct a Terry frisk for weapons, which is “limited in scope to a pat down of the outer clothing,” based on the information received from the 911 caller stating Appellant showed the store clerk a gun in a nonthreatening manner. Tr. 94, l. 9 – 95, l. 12.

Defense counsel also argued law enforcement did not have probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct. Citing to United States. v. Wilhelm, 80 F.3d 116 (4th Cir. 1996), counsel argued the tip (the information from the unknown caller) could not be relied upon to establish probable cause because law enforcement did nothing to confirm what the caller alleged. Accordingly, the police could only rely on what they observed to establish probable cause. Tr. 95, l. 13 – 96, l. 22.

The trial court asked defense counsel whether law enforcement had probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct based on the report that Appellant was drunk, was being loud inside the store, and showed the clerk a gun in a nonthreatening manner coupled with

the deputy's observations that Appellant was "very animated," smelled of alcohol, and his speech was slurred, and his eyes were red. Tr. 97, l. 21 – 98, l. 6. Counsel answered no because "public disorderly conduct requires the person be in a public place and . . . either be in a grossly intoxicated condition or . . . otherwise conduct himself in a disorderly or boisterous manner." Counsel asserted that the statute requires more than evidence of drinking alcohol or intoxication because, if that was the standard, law enforcement could go to any bar in town after midnight and arrest patrons leaving the establishment. He contended that while Appellant "may have had a little bit to drink that night," he was not "grossly intoxicated." Tr. 98, l. 15 – 99, l. 18. Grossly intoxicated is "falling down drunk" or "having buddies . . . carry you out of the bar." Counsel argued Appellant may have been "talking a little bit loudly" but he was not slurring his speech like the deputy claimed and he was not having trouble standing up. Tr. 100, ll. 4-15.

Expanding on his earlier argument that Deputy Smith exceeded the scope of a permissible Terry frisk, defense counsel asserted that "the degree of intrusion permitted by Terry . . . is a pat down frisk" for weapons. "So that means a pat down of the outer clothing." Citing to "LaFave's Treatise on the Fourth Amendment," which is also cited in Appellant's written motion to suppress and during Appellant's argument below, counsel contended that "sometimes the police are allowed to go straight in and grab a weapon" thereby bypassing a pat down, but only "if there are exceptional circumstances that would cause an immediate threat to the officer." Tr. 103, l. 5 – 104, l. 2; See R. \* (Motion). He argued no such exceptional circumstance existed in this case.

The trial court succinctly summarized the issue as: "whether or not law enforcement, at that juncture [when Smith lifted Appellant's shirt], had sufficient probable cause to arrest him [Appellant] for public disorderly conduct. Next, . . . if they did not have sufficient probable

cause to arrest him for public disorderly conduct, whether or not the circumstances were such that his conduct gave them [law enforcement] the right to immediately avoid the pat down because of his actions.” Tr. 107, ll. 9-18. At the conclusion of the *in camera* hearing, the court found law enforcement had probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct and thus were permitted to search Appellant incident to that arrest. Tr. 113, l. 11 – 114, l. 2. The court further found that the deputy’s act of lifting Appellant’s shirt did not violate Terry or the Fourth Amendment. Given the totality of the circumstances, the court found law enforcement was permitted to “skip the pat down and go to a more invasive type of search,” which in this case, was lifting Appellant’s shirt to expose his waistband. Tr. 114, ll. 3-24. However, the court admitted it did not believe after viewing the body camera footage that Appellant was “an immediate threat to their [law enforcement’s] safety.” Tr. 114, l. 25 – 115, l. 13.

In the court’s written order, it again found law enforcement had probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct based on his “boisterous behavior.” Consequently, the deputies were permitted to search Appellant incident to that arrest. R. \* (Order). The court further found “based on the totality of the circumstances, [Appellant’s] conduct was such as would allow the responding officers to bypass a pat down search in favor of the more intrusive search of lifting up [Appellant’s] shirt.” R. \* (Order). The court again “acknowledged that [Appellant] was not acting in an immediately threatening manner when initially approached by law enforcement.” However, the court still found police were permitted to bypass a pat down search given the circumstances. R. \* (Order). Specifically, the court asserted, “Law enforcement should have not to wait until a suspect becomes an actual threat to their safety nor should law enforcement have to be clairvoyant to determine that a suspect will become an immediate threat to their safety before conducting more intrusive searches for their safety.” R. \* (Order).

Trial counsel repeatedly contemporaneously objected throughout the trial when the crack cocaine and other evidence was admitted before the jury. C.f. State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144-45, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) (holding “where a court rules after a hearing on a constitutional issue . . . the ruling is final and, unless something changes during the trial that may reasonably cause the trial judge to alter the pretrial ruling, no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review”). The court overruled or noted each of Appellant’s contemporaneous objections.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This Court reviews the trial court's factual findings for any evidentiary support. However, the ultimate legal conclusion is a question of law this Court reviews *de novo*. State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by denying Appellant’s motion to suppress all evidence seized from Appellant’s person and the subsequent search of his vehicle when law enforcement’s act of lifting Appellant’s shirt to look into his waistband violated the scope of a permissible *Terry* frisk in violation of Appellant’s rights pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and where law enforcement did not have probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct and thus conduct a search incident to arrest.

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002). Warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, “subject to only a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions.” State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 545, 544 S.E.2d 290, 294 (Ct. App. 2001) (quoting Thompson v. Louisiana, 469 U.S. 17, 20 (1984)). “Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment must be excluded from trial.” Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 69, 572 S.E.2d at 459 (citing Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961)).

### **Violation of Scope of Permissible Terry Frisk for Weapons**

“The Fourth Amendment ‘applies to all seizures of the person, including seizures that involve only a brief detention short of traditional arrest.’” Id. (quoting United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 878 (1975)). “A police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” Id. (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)). “Reasonable suspicion requires a ‘particularized and objective basis that would lead

one to suspect another of criminal activity.” Id. (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981)). “In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, ‘the totality of the circumstances—the whole picture—’ must be considered.” Id. (quoting Cortez, 449 U.S. at 417).

During an investigative stop, a police officer may conduct a pat down search for weapons if the officer has a reasonable belief the suspect is armed and dangerous. State v. Woodruff, 344 SC. 537, 547, 544 S.E.2d at 295 (citing Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 111-12 (1977)); See State v. Spears, 429 S.C. 422, 444, 839 S.E.2d 450, 461 (2020); see also State v. Fowler, 322 S.C. 263, 267, 471 S.E.2d 706, 708 (Ct. App. 1996). “In other words, a reasonable person in the position of the officer must believe the frisk was necessary to preserve the officer’s safety.” Spears, 429 S.C. at 444, 839 S.E.2d at 461 (quoting Fowler, 322 S.C. at 267, 471 S.E.2d at 708). “In assessing whether a suspect is armed and dangerous, the officer need not be absolutely certain the individual is armed.” Id. (quoting State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248-49, 525 S.E.2d 535, 540 (Ct. App. 1999)). “Terry dictates that even in the setting of a protective frisk, ‘it is imperative that the facts be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure or the search warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate?’” Id. (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 21-22); See Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 162 (1925)).

In Minnesota v. Dickerson, the United States Supreme Court emphasized that “the sole purpose of the Terry search is not to discover evidence, but to enable a police officer to pursue his or her investigation without fear of violence.” State v. Abrams, 322 S.C. 286, 288, 471 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366, 373 (1993)). “If the protective search goes beyond what is necessary to determine if the suspect is armed, it is no longer valid under Terry and its fruits will be suppressed.” Woodruff, 344 SC. 537, 549, 544

S.E.2d at 296 (citing Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 65-66 (1968)). The state has the burden to “demonstrate that the seizure it seeks to justify on the basis of reasonable suspicion was sufficiently limited in scope and duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure.” Id. at 551, 544 S.E.2d at 298-99 (quoting Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983)).

“The scope of a search authorized by Terry is limited.” Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 548, 544 S.E.2d at 296 (citing Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366). “The courts of this state have recognized and applied the principle that law enforcement officers are not granted, under the purview of Terry, a general warrant to rummage and seize at will.” Id. at 549, 544 S.E.2d at 296. No case in South Carolina has allowed a police officer to lift a suspect’s shirt during a Terry stop instead of performing a frisk or a pat down search of the outer clothing. See 3 S.C. Jur. Arrest § 19; see also Stop and Frisk, Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers § 30:10 (5th ed.). Rather, South Carolina courts have consistently stated that a “frisk” or a “pat down” is the degree of intrusion permitted during an investigative stop. See e.g. State v. Fowler, 322 S.C. 263, 267, 471 S.E.2d 706, 708 (Ct. App. 1996)(“[B]efore the police may frisk a defendant, they must have a reasonable belief the defendant is armed and dangerous.”); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 390, 577 S.E.2d 498, 502 (2003) (“The question before us, however, is whether Officer Cook had reasonable suspicion to conduct a pat-down or frisk of Butler.”); State v. Smith, 329 S.C. 550, 557, 495 S.E.2d 798, 801-02 (Ct. App. 1998) (officer “had reasonable suspicion to perform the “patdown for weapons”); State v. Odom, 376 S.C. 330, 337-38, 656 S.E.2d 748, 752 (Ct. App. 2007) (“patdown” search did not exceed the bounds established under Terry); Milledge v. State, 422 S.C. 366, 811 S.E.2d 796 (2018) (“the deputies had reasonable suspicion Milledge was armed and danger sufficient to justify a frisk.”).

In this case, the trial court erred by finding law enforcement did not violate the limited scope of a Terry frisk when Deputy Smith lifted Appellant's shirt rather than performing a pat down search of Appellant's outer clothing. In assessing the legality of Deputy Smith's conduct, respectfully, this Court should refer to the general rules delineated in LaFave's Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment for guidance. According to LaFave, the exceptions to Terry's pat down requirement are few, particularly being limited to situations where the suspect's actions made it impossible for law enforcement to safely conduct a pat down, the suspect ignored police commands, or the suspect made threatening movements. 4 Search & Seizure § 9.6(b) (Need for and extent of pat-down of person) (6th ed.) (March 2024 Update). LaFave distinguishes between cases where (1) the officer only has reasonable suspicion that the suspect may be armed (where the requirement of a pat down must be observed), and cases where (2) the suspect has engaged in conduct that would lead a police officer to reasonably believe that the suspect is armed and prepared, or threatening, to use the weapon to harm the officer (where the police may lawfully dispense with the requirement of a pat down). 4 Search & Seizure § 9.6(b) (Need for and extent of pat-down of person) (6th ed.) (March 2024 Update) (citing People v. Superior Ct., 15 Cal. App. 3d 806, 94 Cal. Rptr. 728 (Ct. App. 1971)). Significantly, if no "exceptional circumstances" exist "justifying a bypass of the pat down phase," the police are limited to a pat down search. 4 Search & Seizure § 9.6(b) (Need for and extent of pat-down of person) (6th ed.) (March 2024 Update).

LaFave provides examples of circumstances which justified law enforcement bypassing the pat down requirement, including United States v. Andrade, 551 F.3d 103 (1st Cir. 2008) (defendant refused order to stop, did not look at officer, and had his hands in his pockets); State v. Roach, 796 A.2d 214 (N.J. 2002) (defendant made sudden and repeated attempts to reach for a

bulge in his pants and refused to obey officer's order to lift his hands in the air); State v. Heitzmann, 632 N.W.2d 1 (N.D. 2001) (officer properly reached into pockets without further pat down where defendant "was attempting to frustrate the officer's pat down efforts" by his "quick, evasive movements"); and State v. Faulks, 633 N.W.2d 613 (S.D. 2001) (where defendant reached into his pocket for a third time, officer could, without pat down of pocket area, reach in and withdraw contents). 4 Search & Seizure § 9.6(b), n. 262 (Need for and extent of pat-down of person) (6th ed.) (March 2024 Update).

In this case, based on the totality of the circumstances, law enforcement could have safely performed the less invasive pat down search and thus violated Terry and the Fourth Amendment by conducting a more invasive search. The police stopped Appellant outside the convenience store after dispatch received a complaint that he was intoxicated, bothering customers, and showed the store clerk a firearm in a nonthreatening manner. Assuming this information created reasonable suspicion Appellant was armed, law enforcement could have lawfully frisked Appellant's outer clothing for weapons. However, Deputy Smith did not perform a frisk or pat down search. Instead, she lifted Appellant's shirt to look into his waistband, not once, but twice (apparently attempting to ascertain the contents of the orange bag).

Three officers were present during the encounter and surrounded Appellant. Appellant cooperated with law enforcement during the stop and did not attempt to walk away from the officers. Appellant did not put his hands in his pockets or reach into his waistband. He made no quick movements that could be construed as a threat to the police. In fact, Appellant's hands, which were full, were visible during the entire interaction. Appellant held a pack of cigarettes in his left hand and a green bag in his right hand. In short, Appellant took no action that posed any impediment to a pat down search. Deputy Smith could have safely and easily performed a pat

down search but simply chose not to. These circumstances are insufficient to justify the officer's decision to bypass the pat down requirement of Terry.

Moreover, the facts of this case could not be more different from Andrade, Roach, Heitzmann, or Faulks—that is, cases where police could lawfully dispense with a pat down. In those cases, the defendants were disobeying police commands, refusing to show their hands, reaching into their pockets repeatedly, and engaging in other threatening or unpredictable behavior that posed a potential threat to law enforcement. Appellant did none of these actions, and, in marked contrast, was very cooperative with the police as the officers admitted during their *in camera* testimony and as the trial court found in its order.

In State v. Privott, 999 A.2d 415 (N.J. 2010), law enforcement received an anonymous tip that a man had a gun at a specific intersection. Id. at 417. An officer approached Privott, who matched the description given by the anonymous tipster, and who the officer recognized from prior narcotic arrests and knew was associated with gang activity. Id. at 417-18. Privott appeared nervous, walked away from the officer, and moved one hand toward his waistband. Id. at 418. However, after the officer stopped Privott, Privott placed his hands against a fence as instructed by the officer and was cooperative. Id. During the stop, instead of patting Privott down for weapons, the officer lifted Privott's shirt to expose his stomach and, in doing so, observed a plastic bag with suspected drugs in the waistband of Privott's pants. The appellate court determined that these facts supported an investigatory stop and would have justified a frisk of the defendant.

The court then went on to “assess whether the scope of the search conducted by the officer was reasonable” emphasizing that the “investigative methods employed in a Terry stop should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's

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