**RECEIVED**

**May 30 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000289

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SAVAYEA ANTWAN GLENN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

MICAH E. BLACK  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 S. Main St.  
Anderson, SC 29624  
864-260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized from Appellant's person because the search was proper as a search incident to arrest.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred by denying Appellant's motion to suppress all evidence seized from Appellant's person and the subsequent search of his vehicle when law enforcement's act of lifting Appellant's shirt to look into his waistband violated the scope of a permissible Terry frisk. Specifically, he contends the act violated his rights pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and law enforcement purportedly did not have probable cause to arrest him for public disorderly conduct and, thus, conduct a search incident to arrest. Appellant's argument lacks merit because there was probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct; therefore, the search was proper incident to arrest. Further, even if probable cause did not exist to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct, reasonable suspicion existed for officers to conduct a pat down of Appellant and, based off the totality of the circumstances, conduct a more intrusive search.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV. In addition to those protections, the South Carolina Constitution provides its own protections to the state's citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 ("The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]"). Furthermore, primarily in order to guard against invasive technological advancements, the South Carolina Constitution also expressly protects our citizens from "unreasonable invasions of privacy." S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see Forrester, 343 S.C. at 647, 541

S.E.2d at 842 (“[T]he drafters of our state constitution’s right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government’s ability to conduct searches.”).

“A warrantless search is unreasonable per se, unless it falls within a recognized exception to the warrant requirement.” State v. German, 439 S.C. 449, 461, 887 S.E.2d 912, 918 (2023). “The recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement are search incident to lawful arrest, hot pursuit, stop and frisk, the automobile exception, the plain view doctrine, consent and abandonment.” Id. “The prosecution bears the burden of establishing probable cause as well as the existence of circumstances constituting an exception to the general prohibition against unreasonable search and seizures.” State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). “Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests upon such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.” Id.

“A search may be conducted incident to arrest only if it is substantially contemporaneous with the arrest and is confined to the immediate vicinity of the arrest.” State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 132, 620 S.E.2d 737, 740 (2005). “There are situations in a warrantless search which immediately precedes an arrest is held lawful, in cases where the police officer is held to have probable cause from the outset.” Id. “The fact that an arresting officer improperly based a search of an individual on a Terry stop rationale does not prevent the State from otherwise justifying the search by proving probable cause to make a warrantless arrest of the individual existed prior to the search.” State v. Moultrie, 316 S.C. 547, 551, 451 S.E.2d 34, 37 (Ct. App. 1994). A search may precede a formal arrest if the officer has probable cause to arrest at the time of the search and the fruits of the search were not necessary to support probable cause to arrest. Rawlings v.

Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 111, 100 S.Ct. 2556, 2564 (1980). In State v. Freiburger, a taxi driver was murdered by a passenger in his cab with a gunshot wound to the head. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 620 S.E.2d 737 (2005). About a month later Freiburger was stopped by a Tennessee Highway Patrolman for hitch hiking. Id. The Patrolman questioned him and then patted him down, discovering a gun. Id. The gun was confiscated and Freiburger was ultimately arrested for carrying arms. Id. Our South Carolina Supreme Court held that “the fact that Freiburger was not ultimately arrested for hitchhiking is not dispositive. As recently stated by the United State Supreme Court, an officer’s ‘subjective reason for making the arrest need not be the criminal offense as to which the known facts provide probable cause...the fact that the officer did not have state of mind which is hypothecated by the reasons which provide the legal justification for the officer’s actions does not invalidate the action taken as long as the circumstances, **viewed objectively**, justify that action.’” Id. at 133, 620 S.E.2d at 741 (emphasis added).

In this case, there was a 911 call that Appellant was intoxicated at a minute mart, getting in customer’s personal space, was making sexual comments to the clerk as well as showing a firearm to the clerk. (R. 7). When officers arrived on scene, Appellant was loud and boisterous, with an odor of alcohol emanating from his person as well as slurred speech and glassy eyes. (R. 8, 11, 30-31). Based on Appellant’s conduct observed by officers as well as information given through the 911 call, there was probable cause to arrest Appellant for public disorderly conduct and he was in fact arrested for that. Further, even if probable cause did not exist to arrest him for public disorderly conduct, the lifting of Appellant’s shirt was not overly intrusive.

In U.S. v. Hill, there was a reported bank robbery where the perpetrator told a bank teller that he had a gun, demanded money and lifted his shirt displaying to the teller what appeared to be a gun. U.S. v. Hill, 545 F.2d 1191 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. Ct. App. 1976). Roughly 500 feet away from the

bank an officer observed Appellant and stopped him to inquire whether he had seen anyone running through the area that matched the robber's description. Id. In conversing with Appellant, the officer noticed a large bulge at Appellant's waistband which he suspected of being caused by a weapon. Id. The officer raised Appellant's shirt, thus, exposing his waistband and revealing four to six rolls of currency stuffed therein. Id. Appellant argued that the lifting of his shirt was overly intrusive, and the court held that it was not under the circumstances because Terry confines a self-protective search for weapons to an intrusion reasonably designed to discover instruments of assault. It further held that because the officer's investigation was wholly confined to the area of the bulge in question that it did not transcend the permissible bounds established by Terry. Id. at 1193. Similarly, Smith testified that based on the surrounding circumstances that an intoxicated male had shown a firearm to the store's clerk, and the bulge she observed in Appellant's waistband, she was under the impression that the bulge in his waist band was a weapon. Further, she too simply lifted the shirt where she observed the bulge. Therefore, the lifting of the shirt was necessary and not overly intrusive. Based on the probable cause to search Appellant based on a search incident to arrest and the fact that the search did not exceed the boundaries set forth in Terry, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized from Appellant's person.

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.